IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF	NEVADA
	<u>Feb 07 2022 08:10 p.m.</u>
	Elizabeth A. Brown
MICHAEL MANZANO RODEROS,	Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Docket No. 83785

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Following a Jury Trial and Verdict Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Michelle Leavitt, District Judge Case No. C-19-343096-1

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

LESLIE A. PARK, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 8870 633 South Fourth Street, Suite 8 Las Vegas, NV 89101 (702) 382-3847

Counsel for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

Jurisdictional Statementv
Routing Statement v
Statement of the Issues Presented for Reviewv
Statement of Facts1
Statement of the Case 2
Summary of the Argument3
Argument on the Issues4
I. The Prosecutor Improperly Vouched for the Complaining Witness's Testimony
II. The State Elicited Character Evidence at Trial, Warranting Reversal.6
III. The District Court Improperly Limited Mr. Roderos's Right to Present a Defense
IV. The Evidence Adduced at Trial was Insufficient to Sustain a Finding of Guilty
V. Cumulative Error Warrants Reversal in this Case
Conclusion13
Attorney's Certificate of Compliance14
Certificate of Service15

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

United States Constitution
U.S. Const. amend. V 10
U.S. Const. amend. VI5
U.S. Const. amend. XIV 10
Nevada Statutes and Rules
Nev. R. App. P. § 17 v
Nev. R. App. P. § 28 14
Nev. R. App. P. § 32 14
Nev. Rev. Stat. § 107.190 12
Nev. Rev. Stat. § 177.015v
Nev. Rev. Stat. § 200.481 12
Nev. Rev. Stat. § 200.50811
Nev. Rev. Stat. § 48.0259
Nev. Rev. Stat. § 48.0359
United States Supreme Court Cases
California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S 479 (1984)9
Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284 (1973) 10
Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683 (1986)9
Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 637 (1974)5

Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319 (2006)9
In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970) 10
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)11
Johnson v. Florida, 391 U.S. 596 (1968)11
Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39 (1987) 10
Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14 (1967) 10

Nevada Supreme Court Cases

<i>Bradley v. Romeo</i> , 102 Nev. 103, 716 P.2d 227 (1986) 5, 7
<i>Cunningham v. State</i> , 94 Nev. 128, 575 P.2d 936 (1978)11
<i>Davis v. State</i> , 130 Nev. 136, 321 P.3d 867 (2014) 12
<i>Edwards v. State</i> , 90 Nev. 255, 524 P.2d 328 (1974) 10
<i>Hoagland v. State</i> , 126 Nev. 381, 240 P.3d 1043 (2010)9
<i>McCullough v. State</i> , 99 Nev. 72, 657 P.2d 1157 (1983) 5, 7
<i>Valdez v. State</i> , 124 Nev. 1172, 196 P.3d 465 (2008)5

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a verdict following a jury trial held before the Honorable Michelle Leavitt in the Eighth Judicial District Court and the subsequent Judgment of Conviction. (2 Appellant's Appendix [AA] 151–52, 163– 67.) This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 177.015 (3), which provides for the defendant's right to appeal a final judgment in a criminal case.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because it relates to convictions for, *inter alia*, category B felonies. NRAP 17(b)(2)(A).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The State improperly vouched for its complaining witness Samantha Roderos during her testimony. (2 AA 33:17–24.)

The State introduced during testimony improper character evidence, which is to say, evidence that Mr. Roderos was fired from his job for the instant conduct. (*Id.* at 36:14–21.)

The district court erred in limiting Mr. Roderos's right to present a defense vis-à-vis inconsistent statements by his daughter alleging he hit her with his left vs. his right hand. (2 AA 78:3–79:8.)

There was insufficient evidence adduced at trial to support the convictions.

Lastly, the doctrine of cumulative error requires reversal in this case.

V

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts that follow are those presented by the State at trial. Defendant Michael Roderos and Samantha Roderos are husband and wife. (2 AA 16:3–18:15.) They met at work, and have one son together, Sabrien. (*Id.* at 18:17–19:14.) They lived together at 594 Campus Oaks Court in Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada. (*Id.* at 19:15–22.) Mr. Roderos's teenage daughter, Noelani, came to live with them. (*Id.* at 19:25–20:7, 22:21–22, 45:13–47:9.)

On August 18, 2019, Mrs. Roderos and Noelani had returned home from a K-Pop convention in Los Angeles, California. (*Id.* at 22:9–23:22, 49:6–24.) On their return, Mr. Roderos was intoxicated, and he and Mrs. Roderos began to argue. (*Id.* at 23:23–24:15, 49:25–51:5.) At some point Noelani became involved in the argument. (*Id.* at 24:18–25:16, 51:6–11.) Mr. Roderos began to act threatening to Noelani. (*Id.* at 25:21–26:22, 51:12–18.) Mrs. Roderos stepped between Mr. Roderos and his daughter, and then the two adults began to struggle. (*Id.* at 27:2–17, 41:17–42:2, 53:2–16.)

The fight broke up; Mrs. Roderos began to pack up the children to leave for the night when she heard a bang and a scream and then saw Noelani with a black eye. (*Id.* at 28:2–29:9.) Mr. Roderos had backhanded Noelani twice, breaking her glasses. (*Id.* at 55:8–25.) Mr. Roderos tried to take the packed bags away from Mrs. Roderos, and in the confusion Sabien was knocked over. (*Id.* at 31:23–32:10.) Mr. Roderos tried to keep Mrs. Roderos from leaving with the children. (*Id.* at 32:23–33:21, 58:15–59:6.) Eventually, the father of one of Noelani's friends arrived, and Mrs. Roderos put Noelani into his car before leaving herself with Sabrien. (*Id.* at 33:25–34:21, 60:25–61:4.) Noelani and her friend's father called police. (*Id.* at 61:5–11.) Police later contacted Mrs. Roderos for a statement. (*Id.* at 35:17–24.) Mr. Roderos was later arrested at work. (*Id.* at 84:8–85:8.)

When Mr. Roderos testified, he indicated that he never touched Noelani when they argued. (*Id.* at 96:6-14, 98:25-99:19.) Instead, Mrs. Roderos grabbed his wrist, and he pulled away. (*Id.* at 100:20-101:10.) He then took Noelani's glasses off of her face. (*Id.* at 101:11-23.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 16, 2016, the State of Nevada filed a Criminal Complaint in Las Vegas Justice Court case number 19F17159X charging Michael Roderos with: child abuse, neglect, or endangerment; and battery constituting domestic violence. (1 AA 1–2.) Mr. Roderos waived his right to a preliminary hearing, and the court bound the matter over to the Eighth Judicial District Court. (*Id.* at 4:7–8:19.) The State filed an Information on September 12, 2019, charging Mr. Roderos with coercion and battery constituting domestic violence. (*Id.* at 11:9–12:9.) The State filed an Amended Information on September 23, 2019, charging Mr. Roderos with child abuse, neglect, or endangerment, and battery constituting domestic violence. (*Id.* at 13:9–14:9.) On June 2, 2020, the State filed a Second Amended Information adding a charge of coercion constituting domestic violence. (*Id.* at 15:9–16:21.)

Trial commenced before Judge Michelle Leavitt on August 10, 2021. (*Id.* at 17.) On August 12, 2021, the jury returned verdicts of guilty on all charges. (2 AA 147:4–148:4, 151–52.) On November 28, 2021, Judge Mary Kay Holthus sentenced Mr. Roderos to (1) 28 to 72 months; (2) credit for time served; and (3) 28 to 72 months, consecutive to 1; or an aggregate sentence of 56 to 144 months, suspended for not more than 60 months. (*Id.* at 160:6–161:24, 163:28–164:6.)

Mr. Roderos's Judgment of Conviction issued on November 5, 2021. (*Id.* at 163.) Mr. Roderos filed a timely notice of appeal on November 10, 2021. (*Id.* at 168.) This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State improperly vouched for its complaining witness Samantha Roderos during her testimony. This improper vouching constituted a constitutional error requiring reversal. (2 AA 33:17–24.)

3

The State introduced during testimony improper character evidence, which is to say, evidence that Mr. Roderos was fired from his job for the instant conduct. (*Id.* at 36:14–21.) This testimony was adduced without the benefit of a hearing pursuant to *Petrocelli v. State*, and therefore should not have been admitted.

The district court erred in limiting Mr. Roderos's right to present a defense vis-à-vis inconsistent statements by his daughter alleging he hit her with his left vs. his right hand. (2 AA 78:3–79:8.)

Ultimately, there was insufficient evidence adduced at trial to support the convictions, and the State's case rests only on the unstable foundation of improper witness vouching, character evidence, and the district court's own limitation of Mr. Roderos's right to present a defense. Lastly, the doctrine of cumulative error requires reversal in this case.

ARGUMENT ON THE ISSUES

I. <u>The Prosecutor Improperly Vouched for the Complaining</u> <u>Witness's Testimony.</u>

During rebuttal argument, the State improperly vouched for the complaining witness's testimony. This constituted prosecutorial misconduct that unduly prejudiced Mr. Roderos in the eyes of the jury and warrant reversal as violations of Mr. Roderos's Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment right to due process and Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to trial by an impartial jury.

When analyzing a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the question a reviewing court must ask is whether a remark "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." *Donnelly v. DeChristoforo*, 416 U.S. 637, 643 (1974). This Court has set forth a two-step analysis: (1) was the conduct improper, and (2) does the improper conduct warrant reversal. *Valdez v. State*, 124 Nev. 1172, 1190, 196 P.3d 465, 476–77 (2008). This Court has held that plain or constitutional errors are subject to review even absent a contemporaneous objection. *See, e.g. Bradley v. Romeo*, 102 Nev. 103, 105, 716 P.2d 227, 228 (1986); *McCullough v. State*, 99 Nev. 72, 74, 657 P.2d 1157, 1158 (1983).

During the testimony of complaining witness Mrs. Roderos, the prosecutor improperly vouched for her testimony. The relevant passage from the transcript follows:

- Q Okay. So was there pushing involved?
- A Yeah.
- Q And Michael pushing Noelani?
- A Yeah.

Q All right. As he was trying to get the bags from her?

5

A Yeah.

Q Okay. Is that a "yes"?

A Yes, I'm sorry.

Q Perfect. Nah, you're – you're – how much sleep are you going off of right now?

A About two hours.

Q Two hours' sleep, okay.

- A Yeah.
- Q You're doing great....

(2 AA 33:11-24.)

It is improper for a prosecutor to vouch for his or her witnesses. *United States v. Sanchez*, 176 F.3d 1214, 1224 (9th Cir. 1999). Here, the prosecutor's statements served to tip the scales in the State's favor; the State had not presented sufficient evidence, and so it needed to rely on unduly prejudicial and unconstitutional statements to obtain a conviction. For this reason, the jury verdict is infirm and must be overturned.

II. <u>The State Elicited Character Evidence at Trial, Warranting</u> <u>Reversal.</u>

At trial, Mrs. Roderos testified that Mr. Roderos lost his job as a result of this offense. (2 AA 36:14–21.) This testimony constituted inadmissible character evidence, warranting reversal.

To render admissible other bad acts pursuant to NRS 48.045, a district court must first hold a hearing at which the State must establish the bad acts by clear and convincing evidence and demonstrate that the evidence is relevant and not unduly prejudicial. Petrocelli v. State, 101 Nev. 46, 51-52, 692 P.2d 503, 507-08 (1985); Tinch v. State, 113 Nev. 1170, 1176, 945 P.2d 1061, 1064–65 (1997); see also Bigpond v. State, 128 Nev. 108, 116–17, 270 P.3d 1244, 1249-50 (2012). A "presumption of inadmissibility attaches to all prior bad act evidence." Bigpond, 128 Nev. at 116, 270 P.3d at 1249 (quoting Rosky v. State, 121 Nev. 184, 195, 111 P.3d 690, 697 (2005)). To overcome that presumption, the State must request a *Petrocelli* hearing and demonstrate: (1) the prior bad act is relevant to the crime charged for reasons other than propensity; (2) by clear and convincing evidence that the act occurred; and (3) the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Bigpond, 128 Nev. at 117, 270 P.3d at 1250. This Court has held that plain or constitutional errors are subject to review even absent a contemporaneous objection. See, e.g. Bradley v. Romeo, 102 Nev. 103, 105, 716 P.2d 227, 228 (1986); McCullough v. State, 99 Nev. 72, 74, 657 P.2d 1157, 1158 (1983).

A *Petrocelli* hearing was not held in this case. Instead, the State elicited this testimony during trial, when the defense was unprepared for that evidence to come out. Considering the scant evidence presented to the jury, *see infra* section IV, the prejudicial effect of this evidence cannot be overstated. For that reason, Mr. Roderos would ask this Court to reverse his conviction and vacate his sentence.

III. <u>The District Court Improperly Limited Mr. Roderos's</u> <u>Right to Present a Defense.</u>

During trial, counsel sought to elicit testimony regarding whether Mr. Roderos hit Noelani with his left or right hand:

Q And Noelani said that – told you that Michael Roderos had hit her?

A I believe he – she said that he slapped her, pushed her, and then tried to drag her down the stairs.

Q Okay. So in the incident where she said that he tried to slap her, did she say with what hand?

A I believe she said with his left hand, I believe.

Q Would reviewing your report refresh your recollection?

A It would.

• • • •

Q So did Noelani indicate that he had used his left hand or right hand to –

MR. KERN: May we approach, Your Honor?

THE COURT: Sure.

. . . .

(2 AA 77:2–78:5.) The State then objected on hearsay grounds, which the district court sustained. (*Id.* at 78:7–79:8.)

The rules of evidence, codified in Title 4 of the Nevada Revised Statutes, govern the admission of evidence at trial: generally, courts must admit evidence that is relevant unless one of those rules indicates otherwise. NRS 48.025. NRS 48.035 provides that a district court must balance the probative value of otherwise-admissible evidence against its risk of unduly prejudicing the opposing party.

As a counterpoint to the rules of evidence, which generally serve to exclude certain types of evidence, it is one of the defining characteristics of the American system of justice that a criminal defendant is given a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense. *Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 324 (2006) (quoting *Crane v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 683, 690 (1986)); *Hoagland v. State*, 126 Nev. 381, 386, 240 P.3d 1043, 1047 (2010) (quoting *California v. Trombetta*, 467 U.S 479, 485 (1984)). A defendant may present his or her version of the facts, and present evidence that might influence the jury in their deliberations. *Pennsylvania v. Ritchie*, 480 U.S. 39, 56 (1987); *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 294 (1973); *Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 19 (1967).

The district court's decision effectively prevented Mr. Roderos from raising his defense: that Noelani had lied when she said he backhanded her with his left hand. Had he been given the opportunity to present these opinions, the jury likely would not have convicted Mr. Roderos of these offenses. For these reasons, Mr. Roderos would submit that the district court erred when it limited his right to present a defense, and asks this Court to reverse his convictions and sentence.

IV. <u>The Evidence Adduced at Trial was Insufficient to Sustain</u> <u>a Finding of Guilty.</u>

A defendant in a criminal action is entitled to due process of law as guaranteed by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. The Constitution prohibits the criminal conviction of any person except upon proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970); *Edwards v. State*, 90 Nev. 255, 258–59, 524 P.2d 328, 331 (1974). In reviewing an insufficiency of the evidence claim, a court must determine whether, viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979). A verdict will be upheld only if supported by "substantial evidence." *Cunningham v. State*, 94 Nev. 128, 130, 575 P.2d 936, 937 (1978). The burden in a criminal case is always on the prosecution to prove that the accused has committed an act in violation of a criminal statute. *See, e.g., Johnson v. Florida*, 391 U.S. 596, 598 (1968).

Nevada Revised Statute 200.508(1) prohibits the willful causing of a child under 18 to suffer unjustifiable physical pain or mental suffering as a result of abuse or neglect. The State presented a "he-said, she-said" case where the only evidence that the amazingly fast-forming bruise came from Mr. Roderos's blow to the face. Common sense will indicate that such a bruise could only have been several days old, and must have been acquired while Noelani was out of town. (*See* 2 AA 22:9–23:22, 28:2–29:9, 49:6–24.) The State could not and did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Roderos's acts caused that bruise, or that he struck Noelani at all. (*See id.* at 101:11–23.)

Similarly, the evidence showed with regard to the battery constituting domestic violence charge that Mr. Roderos was only defending himself from an attack from Mrs. Roderos. (*Id.* at 100:20–101:10.) Because battery requires "any willful and unlawful use of force or violence," *see* NRS

11

200.481(1)(a), and Mr. Roderos was simply defending himself, *see Davis v*. *State*, 130 Nev. 136, 141, 321 P.3d 867, 871 (2014), this charge was not supported by substantial evidence.

Lastly, the evidence did not support the charge of coercion constituting domestic violence. Felony coercion requires that a defendant "with the intent to compel another to do or abstain from doing an act which the other person has the right to do or abstain from doing" use physical force or the threat thereof. *See* NRS 107.190. Mr. Roderos was merely attempting to prevent his daughter from leaving with an unknown man, an act that does not fall within the statute. *See id*.

For those reasons, Mr. Roderos submits that the jury's verdict is untenable based on the dearth of substantial evidence.

V. <u>Cumulative Error Warrants Reversal in this Case.</u>

The above enumerated errors individually served to deprived Mr. Roderos of his constitutional rights at trial; collectively, they mandate reversal.

The cumulative effect of errors in a trial may violate a defendant's right to a fair trial even if the errors are harmless individually. *Hernandez v. State*, 118 Nev. 513, 535, 50 P.3d 1100, 1115 (2002). The Court must consider (1) whether the issue of guilt is close; (2) the quantity and character of the errors; and (3) the gravity of the crime charged. *Mulder v. State*, 116 Nev. 1, 17, 992 P.2d 845, 854–55 (2000).

Here, the issue of guilt was close, as Mr. Roderos offered a competing and compelling version of events. *See* section IV *supra*. Mr. Roderos has put forth four assignments of error, each reversible in and of themselves. And one cannot argue against the gravity of the crimes charged in this case, including two category B felonies.

These errors are severe enough to warrant reversal, even if individually they do not rise to reversible error. For that reason, this Court should vacate the underlying convictions and sentences.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Mr. Roderos would ask this Court to reverse and vacate the verdict and sentence of the lower court.