IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL MANZANO RODEROS,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Mar 08 2022 03:13 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Case No. 83785

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

LESLIE A. PARK, ESQ. Nevada Bar #008870 633 South Fourth Street, Suite 8 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 382-3847

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

At trial, the prosecution's questioning of Samantha was proper because he did not vouch for her. His statement that she was "doing great" had nothing to do with her credibility. Next, the evidence that Appellant lost his job as a result of being charged was waived because Appellant failed to object to the evidence at trial.

Further, the district court's ruling that Appellant could not admit evidence of Noelani's prior inconsistent statement because Appellant did not confront her with the statement during her testimony was correct. Regardless, Appellant did not suffer any prejudice because the evidence was overwhelming. The only evidence that did not support Appellant's conviction was his own self-serving testimony. Finally, Appellant does not assert any meritorious claims of error, thus there is no cumulative error.

ARGUMENT

I. THE PROSECUTION'S QUESTIONING OF MRS. RODEROS WAS PROPER

Appellant claims the Prosecutor improperly vouched for Samantha Roderos's ("Samantha") testimony during trial. However, this claim fails on the merits.

Claims of prosecutorial misconduct that have not been objected to at trial will not be reviewed on appeal unless they constitute "plain error." Leonard v. State, 17 P.3d 397, 415 (2001); See Mitchell v. State, 114 Nev. 1417, 971 P.2d 813, 819 (1998); Rippo v. State, 113 Nev. 1239, 946 P.2d 1017, 1030 (1997). The standard of review for prosecutorial misconduct rests upon Appellant showing "that the remarks made by the prosecutor were 'patently prejudicial." Riker v. State, 111 Nev. 1316, 1328, 905 P.2d 706, 713 (1995) (citing Libby v. State, 109 Nev. 905, 911, 859 P.2d 1050, 1054 (1993)). This is based on a defendant's right to have a fair trial, not necessarily a perfect one. Ross v. State, 106 Nev. 924, 927, 803 P.2d 1104, 1105 (1990). The relevant inquiry is whether the prosecutor's statements so contaminated the proceedings with unfairness as to make the result a denial of due process. Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S.Ct. 2464, 2471 (1986). Defendant must show that the statements violated a clear and unequivocal rule of law, he was denied

a substantial right, and as a result, he was materially prejudiced. <u>Libby</u>, 109 Nev. at 911, 859 P.2d at 1054.

Appellant argues the prosecutor vouched for Samantha when she testified she had not slept very much the night prior by responding "[y]ou're doing great." AOB at 6, 2 AA at 33. This claim is meritless.

The prosecutor did not vouch for Samantha when she testified. A prosecutor improperly vouches for a witness when he or she offers personal assurance of the witness' veracity or suggests their testimony is supported by information not introduced as evidence. <u>U.S. v. Sanchez</u>, 176 F.3d 1214, 1224, (1999). Credibility is a matter to be decided by the jury. <u>Id.</u>

The prosecutor's statement, "You're doing great," was unrelated to Samantha's veracity or credibility. 2 AA at 33. This was merely an assurance because she seemed to be tired from sleeping only two hours the night before. The statement did not "tip the scales in the State's favor," and did not make the proceedings so unfair that it was a denial of due process. AOB at 6. Plainly, the prosecutor did not vouch for his witness. Therefore, Appellant's claim fails on the merits.

///

///

///

II. THE EVIDENCE WAS NOT CHARACTER EVIDENCE

Appellant contends that Samantha's testimony that Appellant lost his job because of the charges in this case constituted inadmissible character evidence fails on the merits.

The evidence is not character evidence. NRS 48.045 prohibits evidence of a person's character for the purpose of proving that the person acted in conformity with that character. Here, the evidence that Appellant lost his job as a result of being charged with his crimes was not character evidence. The fact that Appellant lost his job is directly related to this case, this was not a separate act used to evidence his guilt. Further, the evidence was not prejudicial. Appellant states the prejudicial effect of the evidence "cannot be overstated." AOB at 8. However, the prejudicial effect was clearly understated as Appellant does not explain how or why it was prejudicial. Appellant does not argue, and the evidence does not indicate that Appellant was fired because his employer conducted its own investigation and concluded he was guilty. The evidence shows that he was fired because he was charged with domestic violence. Therefore, the evidence was not character evidence and was not prejudicial.

Furthermore, Appellant raises this claim even though he failed to object on the grounds he now raises during testimony. His failure to object amounts to waiver and, thus, it is only reviewable for plain error. <u>Dermody v. City of Reno</u>, 113 Nev.

7

207 at 210-11, 931 P.2d 1354 at 1357 (1997), Chavez v. State, 125 Nev. 328, 345,

213 P.3d 476, 488 (2009). Plain error review asks:

To amount to plain error, the 'error must be so unmistakable that it is apparent from a casual inspection of the record."" <u>Vega v. State</u>, 126 Nev. ___, ___, 236 P.3d 632, 637 (2010) (quoting <u>Nelson</u>, 123 Nev. at 543, 170 P.3d at 524). In addition, "the defendant [must] demonstrate [] that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing 'actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477 (quoting <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003)). Thus, reversal for plain error is only warranted if the error is readily apparent and the appellant demonstrates that the error was prejudicial to his substantial rights.

Martinorellan v. State, 131 Nev. 43, 49, 343 P.3d 590, 594 (2015).

Appellant waived this claim because he failed to object to the evidence at trial.

At trial, the question and answer were clear. After Samantha testified that Appellant was fired, the State followed by asking, "Because Varian doesn't tolerate any sort of domestic violence or any aggression like that," and Samantha answered affirmatively. Appellant has no argument and no viable claim as to why he did not object at trial. Therefore, the claim was waived and must meet the plain error standard.

This claim does not meet the plain error standard because Appellant has not shown the error affected his substantial rights and Appellant did not suffer any prejudice. Before that evidence was presented, Samantha testified to hearing a bang and a scream from Noelani. 2 AA at 29. Then, when she checked on Noelani, her glasses were gone, and she had a black eye. <u>Id.</u> Next, Noelani testified and clearly identified Appellant as the perpetrator, and there were multiple photos of the bruising to Noelani's eye. 2 AA at 51-57. There was sufficient evidence presented at trial to support Appellant's conviction. There is no evidence the jury relied on this evidence in convicting Appellant because this was the only time during the trial Appellant losing his job was mentioned and it was not argued by the State in Opening or Closing Arguments.

Therefore, this Court should deny Appellant's claim because it fails to meet the plain error standard.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT'S RULING WAS CORRECT AND IT DID NOT LIMIT APPELLANT'S DEFENSE

At trial, appellant sought to elicit testimony from one of the on-scene officers regarding an inconsistent statement Noelani made to the officer. 2 AA at 77-78. The statement concerned whether Noelani said Appellant hit her with his left or right hand. <u>Id.</u> The State objected on hearsay grounds and the court sustained the objection. 2 AA at 78-79. Presently, Appellant claims the court's ruling prevented Appellant from raising the defense that Noelani had lied when she said Appellant hit her. AOB at 8-10. However, this claim is meritless because the court's ruling was correct.

This Court reviews the district court's admission of evidence for an abuse of discretion. <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1361, 1370 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 116, 120 (2001).

District courts have substantial latitude to control the order and mode of the presentation of evidence to effectively pursue the ascertainment of truth and to "avoid needles consumption of time." NRS 50.115(1)(b). The United States Supreme Court has consistently recognized the vital role judges play during trials as "the governor of the trial for the purpose of assuring its proper conduct and of determining questions of law." <u>Quercia v. U.S.</u>, 289 U.S. 466, 469 (1933). As such, trial judges must have broad power to handle and address the complexities of trial as they arise. <u>Geders v. U.S.</u>, 425 U.S. 80, 86 (1976).

Pursuant to NRS 51.035, hearsay is defined and an out of court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. However, a statement is not hearsay if it is inconsistent with the declarant's testimony and the declarant is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement. <u>Crowley v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 30, 35, 83 P.3d 282, 286 (2004); NRS 51.035. NRS 50.135(2) precludes admission of extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement unless the witness is afforded an opportunity to explain or deny the statement and the opposite party is afforded an opportunity to interrogate them. Id.

Here, the district court sustained the objection because Appellant did not confront Noelani with her prior inconsistent statement during her testimony, and then attempted to admit the statement in violation of NRS 50.135(2). 2 AA 77-79. The district court's ruling was correct. Appellant failed to confront Noelani with the statement during her testimony and thus failed to give her the opportunity to explain or deny the statement. If Appellant wanted to impeach Noelani with her prior inconsistent statement that she made to the officer, Appellant should have impeached her with the statement during her testimony. Appellant has not argued nor presented any evidence that he was unable to confront Noelani with the statement during her testimony.

Further, a court's evidentiary ruling will not violate a defendant's right to present a defense so long as the ruling is not arbitrary or disproportionate to the purposes they are designed to serve. <u>United States v. Scheffer</u>, 523 U.S. 303, 308 (1998). Here, the district court's ruling was consistent with the rules of evidence. Therefore, the rulings were not arbitrary or disproportionate, and did not restrict Appellant's right to present a defense. Therefore, the district court's ruling should be affirmed.

Lastly, the court's ruling did not limit Appellant's ability to present a defense, and he did not suffer prejudice as a result. First, Appellant had the opportunity to present his defense. He could have confronted Noelani with her inconsistent statement during her testimony, which would have supported his defense that she lied about the entire thing. Appellant had the opportunity to present this defense but failed to do so and gives no explanation for why he did not. Thus, his claim he did not have the opportunity to present this defense is belied by the record. Second, Appellant did not suffer prejudice. The evidence in this case was overwhelming. Appellant's defense at trial was that he never struck Noelani, but when he was talking with Noelani, he wanted to take her glasses off to look her in the eye and accidentally scratched her face as he took her glasses off. 2 AA at 101-102.

However, the evidence does not support that defense. Samantha testified that she heard a bang and then heard Noelani scream. 2 AA at 42-43. It is highly unlikely anyone could cause a bang noise by taking glasses off. Additionally, Noelani testified that Appellant pinned her against the wall, then when she went to her room, he went up to her room and back handed her twice across her face during an argument. 2 AA at 51-54. Photos presented at trial showed bruising to Noelani's face immediately after the incident. 2 AA at 56-57. Taking glasses off someone's face could not cause a bruise. The only evidence that supported Appellant's defense was his own self-serving testimony. Therefore, Appellant did not suffer prejudice because the evidence in the case was overwhelming, and the court's ruling should be affirmed.

///

IV. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED AT TRIAL

Appellant contends that there was insufficient evidence presented at trial to sustain the jury's finding of guilty. However, this claim is meritless because it is belied by the record.

The Nevada Supreme Court has found that in reviewing a claim of insufficient evidence, the relevant inquiry is "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>State v. Origel-Candido</u>, 114 Nev. 378, 381, 956 P.2d 1378, 1380 (1998) quoting <u>Koza v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 245, 250, 681 P.2d 44, 47 (1984); <u>see also Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 2781 (1979). In <u>State v. Walker</u>, 109 Nev. 683, 685 857 P.2d 1, 2 (1993), this Court delineated the proper standard of review to be utilized when analyzing a claim of insufficiency of evidence:

Insufficiency of the evidence occurs where the prosecutor has not produced a minimum threshold of evidence upon which a conviction may be based. Therefore, even if the evidence presented at trial were believed by the jury, it would be insufficient to sustain a conviction, as it could not convince a reasonable and fairminded jury of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Id</u>.

Furthermore, the Nevada Supreme Court has ruled it will not reverse a verdict even if the verdict is contrary to the evidence where there is substantial evidence to support it. <u>State v. Varga</u>, 66 Nev. 102, 117, 205 P.2d 803, 810 (1949).

Moreover, this Court has specifically stated that "[c]ircumstantial evidence alone may sustain a conviction." <u>McNair v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 53, 61, 825 P.2d 571, 576 (1992); <u>see also Kazalyn v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 67, 71, 825 P.2d 578, 581 (1992). The rationale behind this rule is that the trier of fact "may reasonably rely upon circumstantial evidence; to conclude otherwise would mean that a criminal could commit a secret murder, destroy the body of the victim, and escape punishment despite convincing circumstantial evidence against him or her." <u>Williams v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 367, 374, 609 P.2d 309, 313 (1980) *citing* <u>People v. Scott</u>, 176 Cal. App. 2nd 458, 1 Cal. Rptr. 600 (1959).

First, Appellant claims the "State presented a 'he-said, she-said" case and did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant struck Noelani at all. AOB at 11. However, Appellant asks this Court to re-weigh the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses. The Nevada Supreme Court determined "it is the jury's function, not that of the court, to assess the weight of the evidence and determine the credibility of the witnesses." <u>Origel-Candido</u>, 114 Nev. 378, 381, 956 P.2d 1378, 1380. (quoting <u>McNair v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 53, 56, 825 P.2d 571, 573 (1992); <u>see also</u> <u>Culverson v. State</u>, 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221 (1979) (Court held it is the function of the jury to weigh the credibility of the identifying witnesses); <u>Azbill v.</u> <u>Stet</u>, 88 Nev. 240, 252, 495 P.2d 1064, 1072 (1972). This does not require this Court to decide whether "it believes that the evidence at the trial established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. at 319-20, 99 S.Ct. at 2789 (quoting <u>Woodby v. INS</u>, 385 U.S. 895, 87 S.Ct. 483, 486 (1966)). This standard thus preserves the fact finder's role and responsibility "[to fairly] resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts." <u>Id</u>. at 319, 99 S.Ct. at 2789. On appeal, "the relevant inquiry is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Guerrina v. State</u>, 134 Nev. 338, 343, 419 P.3d 705, 710 (2018) (quoting <u>Walker v. State</u>, 91 Nev. 724, 726, 542 P.2d 438, 439 (1975)).

Here, Appellant directly asks this court to re-weigh the credibility of the witnesses, which is strictly prohibited by case law. At trial, the jury found Noelani and Samantha more credible than Appellant because the totality of the evidence supported their testimony.

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